STATE OF WISCONSIN

RECEIVED 09-12-2014

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. Case No. 2014 AP 001053 - CR

TYRON POWELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION MOTION ENTERED IN CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY G. DUGAN, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

PARKER C. MATHERS Attorney at Law State Bar No. 1079339

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

419 W. Silver Spring Drive Glendale, WI 53217 (414) 559-8016 mathers.park@gmail.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether the circuit court erroneously ruled that the State could impeach Mr. Powell with Mr. Powell's lack of testimony regarding police brutality at a prior jury trial.

The circuit court ruled that at the third trial the State could impeach Mr. Powell with lack of testimony at the second trial related to police brutality over the objection of the defense.

Whether the circuit court erroneously denied Mr. Powell's ineffective assistance claim without an evidentiary hearing.

The circuit court denied Mr. Powell's postconviction motion requesting an evidentiary hearing.

Whether the circuit court erroneously admitted testimony pertaining to the type and year of Mr. Powell's prior criminal convictions.

The circuit court admitted the testimony over the defense's objection.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND

PUBLICATION

Neither is requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal stems from the trial court's Decision and Order Denying Motion for Postconviction Relief filed on April 23, 2014 (51:1) and from the trial court's Judgment of Conviction entered in this matter on February 18, 2013. (36:1). For purposes of this appeal, Defendant-Appellant, Tyron Powell, will hereinafter be referred to as "Powell" and the State of Wisconsin will hereinafter be referred to as "State."

On November 30, 2012, Powell was convicted at trial of one count of fleeing and eluding and one count of conceal carry weapon. (27:1; 28:1). Prior to this trial two mistrials occurred.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On January 8, 2011, around 9:00 p.m. Milwaukee Police Officers Mickal Chemlick, William Esqueda and Christopher Randazzo, who were dressed in plain clothes and in their unmarked squad car at 13th Street and Lloyd Street in Milwaukee, received an anonymous tip from a female citizen that a person had a gun. (77:108).

The female came to their car and told them that she had seen a black man with a visible handgun. According to Officer Chemlick she said the gun was in the man's hand. (77:109). According to Officer Esqueda she said the gun was visible on the man's hip. (73:108). She told the officers that the man exited a black Mitsubishi car and walked into the house at 1913 North 13th Street. (77:79). According to officers the house was a known drug house. (77:79). She described the man as wearing black pants and a black hoodie. (77:108). The anonymous tip did not include any allegation of illegal activity according to officers. (66:40). The officers investigated the tip and located a black Mitsubishi at 1912 North 13th Street. (77:79).

The officers retrieved an undercover car and setup surveillance of the house within thirty minutes of receiving the anonymous tip. (73:87). The officers setup surveillance 60-70 feet away from the black Mitsubishi and on the same side of the 13th Street as the black Mitsubishi is parked. (77:91). Four other uniformed officers waited nearby in two marked MPD squad cars to stop the individual from the anonymous tip in case he exited the house. Officers Chemlick, Esquada and Randazzo watched the house until around midnight when four individuals exited the house. (77: 84). There was no activity at the house prior to this.

One of the four individuals, later identified as Powell, was wearing black pants, a black hoodie and a black hat. While Mr. Powell crossed from the house to his car Powell patted his right thigh with his right hand two times; the

officers did not see Powell with a firearm. (73:92-97; 76:89). Powell entered the black Mitsubishi with a passenger. Officer Esqueda testified that Powell patting himself indicated possibly that Powell had a firearm. (73:92). The officers in the undercover car then radioed to the uniformed officers waiting in the marked squad cars to stop Powell.

The marked squads approached Powell's car and activated their emergency lights and spot light and parked behind and adjacent to Powell's car because of a car parked behind Powell's car. (96:82). The officers also activated the squad's siren for one beep and turned on the squad's "brights." (94:19-22). The uniformed officers exited their squad car and approached Powell's car and drew their weapons. (94:27). Officers' saw Powell with a startled look on his face. (96:85)

As Powell is sitting in his idling car he sees a hand with a gun in it and hears someone saying put your hands up. (96:16). Powell thought someone was trying to rob him. (96:18). In response, Powell put his car in drive and drove off. (96:16). Powell drove straight ahead and went through a stop sign in an attempt to get away. (96:20).

Powell noticed red and blue lights in his rearview mirror and realized the police were stopping him. (96:22). Powell did have a gun with him and he placed the gun out the car window. (96:22). Powell put the gun out the window with the holster. (96:22). Powell testified, "I let them [law enforcement officers] see me place my gun out the window. Once I did that. I was driving myself away from the gun. I didn't want to jump out with the gun on me in a dark area and something, you know. I was afraid." (96:22). Then, Powell slowed down and found a safe well-lit place to park his vehicle. (96:25-26). Powell stopped his car at 12th Street and Lloyd Street, about three blocks from where the police initially tried to stop Powell. (94:54-55). In total, Powell traveled one and a half blocks on 13th street, then Powell turned right on to Lloyd street and traveled one block, then Powell turn left on to 12th street and stopped.

Police arrested Powell and recovered a bulletproof vest, a cell phone, and two gun ammunition clips. The gun magazines were entered into evidence at trial. (94:90). The bullet proof vest was also put before the jury. (90:8)

On January 12, 2011, as a result of this incident, the Milwaukee County District Attorney's office filed a criminal complaint charging Powell with one count of Attempting to Flee or Elude a Traffic Officer contrary to sec. 346.04(3), 939.50(3)(i) Wis. Stats. (2:1). An initial appearance was held on the same day. (54:1). A preliminary hearing was held on January 19, 2011, and Powell was bound over for trial. (55:1) An amended information was filed on December 29, 2011, adding one count of Carrying a Concealed Weapon contrary to sec. 941.23, 939.51(3)(a) Wis. Stats. (12:1).

No pretrial evidentiary motions were conducted in Powell's case, and Powell did not enter guilty pleas. The case resulted in three trials, the first two trials resulted in mistrials and the third trial resulted in a guilty verdict as to both counts.

The first jury trial began on January 9, 2012, and Attorney James Toran represented Powell. (64:1). On the morning of January 10, 2012, opening statements were conducted. (65:2). Attorney Toran, in his opening statement, talked about police brutality of Powell as a result of the underlying incident. (65:2).

In response to defense's opening statement, the State argued surprise and that the defense had not adhered to the State's discovery request and applicable discovery statutes. (65:7-8).

The circuit court ruled that police brutality of Powell was relevant to Powell's defense. (65:7). The circuit court then ruled that any defense documents that were not previously turned over to the State and that were not self-

¹ The transcript related to the opening statements from the first trial are not part of the record on appeal.

authenticating would not be admissible at trial. (65:11). In response to the circuit court's ruling, the defense moved for a mistrial because Powell had not turned over the materials to Attorney Toran until the beginning of the trial. (65:12). The State did not object and the circuit court granted a mistrial. (65:19-20).

An investigation in to Powell's claim of police brutality was conducted, and the State obtained medical reports of Powell in anticipation of the second trial. (70:2). In addition, the defense had receipts for medical expenses. (65:13).

On May 31, 2012, the circuit court held the last final pretrial conference before trial. (71:1). At no point during the final pretrial conference did the defense exclude the possibility that the defense would not pursue police brutality of Powell as an issue at trial; in fact, the circuit court noted that with the additional witnesses the trial would be a "fully long week trial." (71:4).

The second trial began on June 4, 2012, and again attorney Toran represented Powell. (72:1). During the second trial Powell testified; however, the defense never presented any evidence of police brutality of Powell. (77:138). The second trial resulted in a hung jury and the circuit court declared a mistrial. (80:7).

On July 2, 2012, Mr. Toran withdrew as counsel for Powell. (81:1). Attorney Calvin Malone became new counsel to Powell. (82:1).

On October 3, 2011, the Stated filed a motion in limine, in which the State sought to prohibit the defense from bringing out any brutality of Powell by the police. (20:4). The circuit court held a final pretrial conference on November 21, 2012. (87:1; 88:1).

At the final pretrial conference the issue of police brutality of Mr. Powell presented it self. (87:54). The defense

could not rule out raising the issue at trial. The circuit court ordered that the defense could introduce testimony related to police brutality of Powell at trial. (87:61). The circuit court also ruled that if Powell testified about police brutality, then the State could elicit testimony from Powell that the Powell never testified about the issue at the second trial. (87: 61-62). Specifically, the circuit court stated, "The State can introduce his – Mr. Powell's testimony, can present that in this prior hearing that Mr. Powell never made that claim." (87:66).

The circuit court reasoned that if Powell testified about police brutality, then Powell's silence about the issue at the second trial could indicate a recent fabrication. (87:62).

Defense questioned the circuit court about who made the decision not to mention anything about brutality of Powell by police at the second trial, and the circuit court responded, "I don't care whose decision it was." (87:64).

Defense objected to the circuit court permitting the State to impeach Powell with his lack of testimony about police brutality at the second trial if it became an issue. (87:69). In addition, the defense moved for a preemptive mistrial. (87:73).

The parties stipulated that Powell had three prior convictions for purposes of impeachment if Powell testified. (87:9). The parties stipulated that Powell had convictions in: 1999 for Carrying a Concealed Weapon, 2002 for Obstructing an Officer and 2008 Carrying a Concealed Weapon, these were all misdemeanor convictions. (87:4-9). The circuit court suggested how Powell should testify in regards to the prior convictions. (87:9).

The third trial started on November 26, 2012. (89:1). Powell testified at the third trial. (95:48). During Powell's testimony he was asked if he had been convicted of a crime; Powell responded, "Of a crime, yes. Of a felony no." (95:53). Then Powell was asked whether he had been convicted three times, which Powell responded, "Yes." (95:53). Powell's

responded to the questions truthful.

Based on Powell's answers to the above two questions the circuit court permitted the State elicit testimony regarding Powell's prior convictions over defense's objection. (95:66). The circuit court reasoned that Powell improperly testified and opened the door to specific questions regarding his criminal convictions when he stated that he had not been convicted of a felony. (95:65).

In its reasoning the circuit court stated, "...the right answer was three. He went beyond it. He gave an answer that he wasn't supposed to give. He was advised at the final pre-trial, the questions are limited... He volunteered, 'no felonies'" (95:65).

The circuit court added "...and I can only point out to you that Mr. Powell in his earlier trial volunteers things. He volunteered that is a second trial for him, that this means so much to him, that he's – and I can't remember, a great expense, but he was trying to say and volunteer various was I'm innocent because it was credible testimony, and I take that as another move on his part to do it." (95:65-66).

On cross-examination the State did elicit testimony about the name and year of Powell's prior criminal convictions. (96:38). The circuit court instructed the jury that Powell's prior convictions were received into evidence solely because it bore upon his credibility as a witness and were not proof of guilt of the crimes now charged. (97:14).

The jury returned a verdict of guilty to both counts. On February 12, 2013, the circuit court sentenced Powell. (99:1). The circuit court imposed a maximum sentence on both counts consecutive to each other for a total of 27 months initial confinement and 24 months extended supervision. (99:31-32).

Powell filed a postconviction motion presenting three issues. (45:1). The State filed a response brief. (47:1). Powell filed a reply brief. (49:1). The circuit court denied Powell's postconviction motion. (51:3).

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PREJUDICED POWELL WHEN THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRONEOUSLY RULED THAT THE STATE COULD IMPEACH POWELL WITH POWELL'S SILENCE AT A PRIOR TRIAL.

The circuit court's pretrial conference order that permitted the State to impeach Powell with his lack of testimony about police brutality at the second trial erroneously permitted the State to introduce irrelevant and prejudicial evidence.

The circuit court may admit or exclude evidence within its discretion. State v. Bauer, 238 Wis. 2d 687, 690, 617 N.W.2d 902 (Ct. App 2000). This Court should uphold a circuit court's evidentiary ruling if the Court finds that that the circuit court "examined the relevant facts, applied a proper standard of law, used a demonstrated rational process, and reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." State v. Hunt, 263 Wis. 2d 1, 25; 666 N.W.2d 771 (2003).

If the circuit court fails to develop it's reasoning or misapplies the law, this Court should determine whether there is a proper legal analysis that supports the circuit court's conclusion. See <u>Bauer</u>, 238 Wis. 2d 687, 690; <u>Hunt</u>, 263 Wis. 2d 1; 666 N.W.2d 771.

Evidence that is not relevant is not admissible. Wis. Stat. § 904.02. Relevant evidence means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. Wis. Stat. § 904.01.

In this case the circuit court ruled that the issue of police brutality was relevant at trial, and therefore, Powell could raise the issue in his defense. The circuit court also ruled that Powell's lack of testimony about police brutality at

the second trial was relevant to Powell's credibility if the issue was raised at the third trial. Defense objected to the circuit court's ruling and moved for a preemptive mistrial trial. The circuit court's reiterated that the evidence was relevant to Powell's credibility in the circuit court's order denying postconviction relief.

"For each class of evidence, the trial court is required to balance the probative value of the proffered testimony against the prejudicial effect." <u>State v. Ingram</u>, 204 Wis. 2d 177, 186, 554 N.W.2d 833 (Ct. App. 1996); Wis. Stat. § 904.03

The circuit court erred in its ruling because Powell's lack of testimony about police brutality at the second trial is not relevant to Powell's credibility and therefore has no probative value.

The evidence does not make Powell's credibility more or less probable because defense counsel, not Powell, determined trial strategy at the second trial. SCR 20:1.2.

So, the strategic decisions made during the second trial, including whether to raise the issue of police brutality, are decisions that trial counsel made and have no bearing and are immaterial to Powell's credibility.

In addition, the circuit court stated that it did not care whose decision it was to not raise the issue of police brutality at the second trial. The circuit court's statement cannot be reconciled with the circuit court's pretrial order.

Ultimately, whether Powell raised the issues of police brutality at his second trial is immaterial and not relevant to whether police brutality actually took place. Powell's silence at the second trial does not make the existence of police brutality more or less probable.

The circuit court's pretrial order prejudiced Powell because if defense elicited the police brutality of Powell, then the State would have admitted irrelevant evidence. The admission of irrelevant evidence would confuse the jury. The jury would believe, as the circuit court did, that Powell's prior lack of testimony actually did go to his credibility.

The circuit court's pretrial order was also prejudicial to Powell because the order invaded Powell's attorney-client privilege. Powell would be left to explain his lawyer's strategic decision. Powell would be forced to waive his attorney-client privilege and call his previous lawyer as a witness.

Finally, the circuit court's pretrial order was prejudicial to Powell because the order improperly undermined Powell's defense. The circuit court ruled that Powell, in his defense, could introduce evidence related to police brutality in order to attack the credibility of the officers. The circuit court's order improperly undermined Powell's defense by allowing the State to admit irrelevant and prejudicial evidence to refute Powell's defense, and thus further prejudiced Powell.

The circuit court erroneously ordered irrelevant and prejudicial evidence admissible; therefore, the Court should grant Powell a new trial.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S POSTCONVICTION MOTION FOR MACHNER HEARING.

Powell's postconviction motion requested a <u>Machner</u> hearing Powell and claimed that trial counsel had been ineffective because trial counsel failed to move to suppress evidence unlawfully gathered by police.

The circuit court denied Powell's postconviction motion for a <u>Machner</u> hearing ruling that based on a review of the alleged facts in the criminal complaint the officers acted lawfully and that a suppression motion would not have been successful. A postconviction hearing, or "<u>Machner</u> hearing," is necessary to sustain a claim of ineffective assistance of

counsel. <u>State v. Machner</u>, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 804; 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

Powell must show that his attorney's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance was prejudicial. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). The performance inquiry relates to whether the counsel's assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. The prejudice inquiry relates to whether, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 669.

After the first two trials in Powell's case trial counsel should have became aware that officers did not lawfully stop Powell.

Facts came to light through the trials about why officers stopped Powell. Specifically, officers received an anonymous tip that a black male wearing black pants and black hoodie possessed a gun that was visible to the anonymous tipster. The anonymous tipster did not inform the officers of any illegal activity. The anonymous tipster informed that officers that the male exited a black Mitsubishi car and went to the house at 1913 North 13th Street, which the officers believed was a drug house. The officers watched the house for over two hours. Then around midnight a group of men exited the house and walked across the house's yard towards the street. One of the men matched the anonymous tipster's description and the officers saw the man pat his right thigh twice. That man entered a car.

After the man got into his car, the officers then conducted a traffic stop of the car and the officers approached the car with their guns drawn. The man, scared, sped off. He disarmed himself and stopped his vehicle after traveling three blocks.

Trial counsel not filing a suppression motion based on these facts was not reasonable assistance of counsel because a suppression motion would have resulted in suppression of evidence.

The officers did not have reasonable suspicion to stop Powell. For an officer to seize someone the officer needs to reasonably suspect that such person is committing, is about to commit or has committed a crime. <u>Terry v. Ohio</u>, 392 U.S. 1 (1968). A traffic stop constitutes a seizure. <u>State v. Arias</u>, 311 Wis. 2d 358; 752 N.W.2d 748 (2008).

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