## **RECEIVED**

10-23-2014

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURTOFAPPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP1053-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TYRON JAMES POWELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY G. DUGAN PRESIDING

## BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

TIFFANY M. WINTER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1065853

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

## **ARGUMENT**

Powell was convicted of one count of carrying a concealed weapon, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 941.23 (2009-10),<sup>2</sup> and one count of fleeing an officer by vehicle, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.04(3) (2009-10) (36:1-3). Powell was convicted on retrial following two mistrials. At the first trial, counsel asserted during his opening statement that Powell was brutalized by police after his arrest and the charges were fabricated to cover up that assault (65:2-7).<sup>3</sup> Because there was no mention of police brutality until the second day of trial, the court granted the defense's motion for mistrial with the understanding that Powell's allegation would be investigated (65:17-20).<sup>4</sup> At the second trial, Powell's allegation that the charges against him were fabricated was never presented to the jury. Instead, Powell presented a slightly different version of events than the testifying officers presented. At the end

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All citations to Wisconsin Statutes are to the 2011-12 version unless otherwise noted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Powell was alleged to be carrying a concealed handgun on January 8, 2011 (12:2), which was before carrying a concealed handgun was decriminalized in some circumstances by the adoption of 2011 Wisconsin Act 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The record does not contain counsels' opening statements. It appears that opening statements should have been contained in Record No. 66, but that record is only an excerpt of the proceedings (66:1). It is also noted that Record Nos. 65 and 66 are not in chronological order. The proceedings documented in Record No. 66 came before the proceedings documented in Record No. 65 (1:5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The court concluded that double jeopardy was not implicated because there was no evidence of wrongful conduct by the State (65:20).

of the second trial, the jury was unable to reach a unanimous verdict and the court declared a mistrial (80:8).

Powell presents three issues for review. First, the trial court ruled that the State could use Powell's lack of testimony regarding police brutality at the second trial to impeach Powell if he chose to testify at the third trial that he was assaulted after his arrest. Was that pretrial ruling an erroneous exercise of discretion and did that ruling prejudice Powell even though that evidence was never presented?

Second, in his postconviction motion, Powell asserted that his counsel at the third trial was ineffective for not moving to suppress the handgun on the ground that officers unlawfully approached Powell's vehicle. Did the court properly exercise its discretion in denying Powell's postconviction motion without a hearing when the court concluded that a suppression motion on that ground would have been unsuccessful?

Finally, the State sought to introduce the nature and year of Powell's prior convictions after Powell volunteered that he was never convicted of a felony. Did the court erroneously exercise its discretion in allowing the State to present that evidence when Powell made the nature of his convictions an issue, and was Powell prejudiced by that evidence?

The State will address each argument in turn and asks this Court to affirm Powell's judgment of conviction and the order denying postconviction relief as Powell failed to establish error, and if there was error – the errors were harmless.

I. THE COURT'S PRETRIAL RULING REGARDING POWELL'S ALLEGATION OF POLICE BRUTALITY WAS PROPER AND HARMLESS.

Powell asserts the court erred when it ruled that, if Powell alleged his charges were a cover-up for an assault he endured after his arrest, the State could impeach Powell with his testimony at the second trial that never mentioned an assault and cover-up (Powell's Br. at 9). In a pretrial ruling, the trial court concluded that Powell's assertion that the charges against him were fabricated to cover-up an assault was relevant and admissible as it would affect the testifying officers' credibility (88:14-15, 37). The court further concluded that the State could introduce that Powell did not raise this issue at his second trial because that would affect the jury's determination of Powell's credibility (88:15, 22, 27-28, 54-55).

The court clarified that Powell's allegation of police brutality after his arrest was relevant only to the issue of credibility because the jury was not asked to decide whether officers violated Powell's civil rights (88:37). As such, a jury instruction would be necessary to inform the jury of the purpose of the evidence (88:37-38, 39-41). At trial, Powell never testified that the charges were fabricated or that he was assaulted by officers, and therefore, Powell was never cross-examined about that allegation.

Powell challenges the trial court's evidentiary ruling as erroneous and prejudicial (Powell's Br. at 10-11). He argues that his lack of prior testimony is irrelevant and that he would have been unduly prejudiced by the State informing the jury that he did not previously allege that the charges were a cover-up for police brutality (Powell's Br. at 10-11). Powell is attempting to usurp that function of the jury, and this Court should conclude that the trial court's evidentiary ruling was a proper exercise of discretion. Alternatively, this Court should conclude that

if the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion, the error was harmless.

A. It is relevant to the assessment of Powell's credibility that Powell never asserted at his second trial that officers fabricated the charges to cover-up an assault.

The admission or rejection of evidence is within the trial court's discretion. *State v. Alsteen*, 108 Wis. 2d 723, 727, 324 N.W.2d 426 (1982). The question on review is "whether the trial court exercised its discretion in accordance with accepted legal standards and in accordance with the facts of record." *State v. Wollman*, 86 Wis. 2d 459, 464, 273 N.W.2d 225 (1979). "This court will not find an abuse of discretion if there is a reasonable basis for the trial court's determination." *Alsteen*, 108 Wis. 2d at 727-28 (citing *Boodry v. Byrne*, 22 Wis. 2d 585, 589, 126 N.W.2d 503 (1964)).

Here, the State sought a pretrial ruling preventing Powell from testifying that he was assaulted after his arrest (20:4; 87:54). In considering this motion, the court noted that after the first trial, a mistrial was declared so the State could investigate Powell's allegation (87:57). The allegation was investigated, but not substantiated, and ultimately not raised at the second trial (87:58). The court, however, concluded that Powell could testify at the third trial that he was assaulted after his arrest because it was relevant to the assessment of the credibility of the testifying officers (87:61). The court also concluded that Powell's lack of testimony regarding that allegation at the second trial was equally relevant to the assessment of Powell's credibility (87:61, 64, 69-70).

Powell alleges that his failure to testify about the alleged assaults at the second trial is irrelevant because his lack of testimony *might* have been trial strategy, which would have no bearing on his credibility (Powell's Br. at

10). Powell is incorrect. Relevant evidence is evidence that has a tendency to make a fact of consequence more or less probable than it would be without the evidence. *State v. Pharr*, 115 Wis. 2d 334, 344, 340 N.W.2d 498 (1983); Wis. Stat. § 904.01. "A witness's credibility is always relevant . . . ." 7 Daniel D. Blinka, *Wisconsin Practice Series: Wisconsin Evidence* § 401.1, at 98 (3rd ed. 2008). Evidence that Powell did not assert that officers fabricated the charges at the second trial would make whether he is now telling the truth about that allegation less probable. The trial court explained:

That's all relevant to the jury because this is going to be . . . . a critical part of the defense, and the jury has to decide whether or not Mr. Powell is being truthful about these allegations and the misconduct of the officers such that they are lying to cover up for themselves.

And if that's the nature of what this case is going to be, then the full picture needs to be presented to the jury for them to decide whether or not Mr. Powell is being truthful, whether or not the officers are being truthful.

(87:75).

After the court's initial ruling, Powell re-raised his objection (88:5-6). The court then painstaking explained its conclusion (88:5-55). Defendants have an obligation to testify truthfully on the stand. *State ex rel. Simos v. Burke*, 41 Wis. 2d 129, 137, 163 N.W.2d 177 (1968). And at the second trial, Powell admitted to speeding away from the scene and to carrying a weapon.<sup>5</sup> If Powell asserted that those charges were made up at the third trial, the fact that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Powell testified at the second trial that he initially fled because he was unaware that the individuals approaching his vehicle were police officers (77:148-50, 158). He further testified that once he knew he was being pursued by officers, he stopped and fully complied with the officers' orders (77:151-52, 154-58). Powell admitted that he had a handgun that evening, but denied that it was concealed, testifying that he carried the gun on the outside of his clothing and in a holster (79:36-37, 41).

Powell did not assert that at the second trial would be relevant. The court explained: "It's for the jury to weigh. If it comes out in this third trial, the jury is going have [sic] to determine whether or not it's credible and whether or not Mr. Powell is being credible and truthful." (88:54-55).

Moreover, while Powell does not expressly raise a due process argument,<sup>6</sup> Powell's claim could be viewed as asserting that the court's pretrial ruling prevented him from raising a complete defense (*see* Powell's Br. at 11 "the order improperly undermined Powell's defense"). However, in *State v. Hanson*, our supreme court reiterated that "the rules of evidence generally have been held to comply with the constitutional right to present a defense." 2012 WI 4, ¶ 45, 338 Wis. 2d 243, 808 N.W.2d 390. Here, the court did not prevent Powell from asserting that the officers fabricated the charges. Rather, the court expressly ruled that Powell could testify about the alleged assault and cover-up.

As addressed above, if Powell testified about the assault at the third trial, Powell's lack of testimony at a previous hearing becomes relevant. Powell does not have a right to present a defense that the State is precluded from challenging. If Powell testified that officers fabricated the charges, the key issue for the jury would be Powell's credibility. As such, the court's ruling is in full accord with the "axiom of the law, and an elementary principle, that in all jury cases the credibility of the witnesses must be determined by the jury alone." *Roberts v. State*, 84 Wis. 361, 364, 54 N.W. 580 (1893). Powell was asking the court to usurp that function of the jury and the court properly denied that invitation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment requires that criminal prosecutions conform to fundamental notions of fairness and that criminal defendants are given 'a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense." *State v. Weissinger*, 2014 WI App 73, ¶ 8, 355 Wis. 2d 546, 851 N.W. 2d 780 (quoting *California v. Trombetta*, 467 U.S. 479, 485 (1984)).

B. If the court's pretrial ruling was erroneous, it was harmless.

"Wisconsin's harmless error rule is codified in Wis. Stat. § 805.18 and is made applicable to criminal proceedings by Wis. Stat. § 972.11(1)." *State v. Sherman*, 2008 WI App 57, ¶ 8, 310 Wis. 2d 248, 750 N.W.2d 500 (citing *State v. Leonard Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 39, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189) (footnote omitted). Whether a trial error is harmless is a question of law reviewed de novo. *In re Commitment of Harrell*, 2008 WI App 37, ¶ 37, 308 Wis. 2d 166, 747 N.W.2d 770.

Erroneous evidentiary rulings are subject to harmless error analysis. *State v. Harris*, 2008 WI 15, ¶ 85, 307 Wis. 2d 555, 745 N.W.2d 397. The State has the burden to establish that the error was harmless. *State v. Thoms*, 228 Wis. 2d 868, 873, 599 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1999) (citation omitted). "The test for harmless error is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction." *Thoms*, 228 Wis. 2d at 873. The claimed error does not contribute to the conviction if this Court concludes that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error. *Leonard Harvey*, 254 Wis. 2d 442, ¶ 49.

In this case, the harmless error analysis is rather simple. The evidence that Powell complains of, that he did not previously allege the charges were a cover-up for police brutality, was never admitted. Because it was never admitted, there is no possibility that it could have contributed to the conviction. As such, if the court's pretrial ruling was erroneous, it was also harmless.

In a similar vein, Powell's assertion that the court "invaded" his attorney-client privilege is meritless. Powell's privilege was not affected by the court's ruling and the court clearly communicated that if Powell wanted to waive his privilege and present evidence of trial strategy, the relevancy and admissibility of that evidence

would be considered at that time (88:54-55). The court's ruling did not require the disclosure of any privileged information, but moreover, no privileged information was actually disclosed. Therefore, any error was harmless.

# II. THE COURT PROPERLY DENIED POWELL'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE WITHOUT A HEARING.

Powell asserts that his counsel at the third trial was ineffective for failing to seek suppression of physical evidence (Powell's Br. at 11). Powell's allegation that counsel was ineffective rests on his assertion that officers violated the Fourth Amendment when they approached Powell's vehicle without reasonable suspicion that Powell was engaged in illegal activity (Powell's Br. at 12-13). Powell's suppression argument focuses on the handgun because it is the one piece of physical evidence that the State needed to establish that Powell was carrying a concealed weapon (Powell's Br. at 14). Police recovered the handgun after Powell discarded it during his flight from officers (75:66; 94:44-46, 66).

The court denied Powell's postconviction motion after it concluded that the officers had reasonable suspicion to conduct an investigatory stop (51:2). In furtherance of the court's conclusion that a hearing was not warranted, the State submits that no Fourth Amendment violation occurred that would have warranted suppression. First, officers lawfully approached Powell's vehicle on a reasonable suspicion that Powell was carrying a concealed weapon. Second, Powell fled when the officers approached, and therefore, evidence discarded during that flight could be lawfully seized. And finally, at the time of arrest, officers had probable cause to believe that Powell had committed a variety of crimes. Absent any Fourth Amendment violation, counsel could not be found ineffective for failing to bring a motion to suppress and the court properly denied Powell's claim without a hearing.

A. Powell is entitled to a *Machner*<sup>7</sup> hearing only if he alleges facts that, if true, would establish that he is entitled to relief.

A postconviction motion alleging ineffective assistance of counsel does not automatically trigger a right to a *Machner* hearing. *State v. Phillips*, 2009 WI App 179, ¶ 17, 322 Wis. 2d 576, 778 N.W.2d 157. "[N]o hearing is required if the defendant fails to allege sufficient facts in his or her motion, if the defendant presents only conclusory allegations or subjective opinions, or if the record conclusively demonstrates that he or she is not entitled to relief." *Id.* (citing *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 309-10, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996)).

On review, this Court first determines whether Powell pled sufficient facts to entitle him to relief. *Phillips*, 322 Wis. 2d 576, ¶ 17. Sufficient facts are facts that establish both deficient performance and prejudice under *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 697 (1984). *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶¶ 12, 26, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433. "If the motion fails to allege sufficient facts, the trial court has the discretion to deny the motion without an evidentiary hearing. This discretionary decision will only be reversed if the trial court erroneously exercised that discretion." *Phillips*, 322 Wis. 2d 576, ¶ 17 (citing *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 310-11).

B. Officers lawfully approached Powell's parked vehicle on a reasonable suspicion that Powell was carrying a concealed weapon.

A law enforcement officer may lawfully stop an individual if he or she reasonably suspects that criminal activity may be afoot. *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1 (1968). In

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